

# The Pharmacological Actions of Grapefruit Extracts: Naringin and Naringinin

## Ricky W. K. Wong\*

Biomedical and Tissue Engineering, University of Hong Kong, 2/F, Prince Philip Dental Hospital, 34 Hospital Road, Sai Ying Pun, Hong Kong, China Correspondence: \* fyoung@hkucc.hku.hk

## ABSTRACT

The grapefruit extract components, naringin and its aglycone naringinin, are commonly used health supplements; they exert a variety of pharmacological actions. This article attempts to review their pharmacokinetics, pharmacological actions and their uses in various managements, including effect on cardiovascular system; effect on skeletal system; effect on smooth muscle; effect on gastric intestinal system; effect on endocrine system; effect against tumour; protection against toxins in chemotherapy drugs and the environment; antioxidant effect; drug interactions; antiinflammatory effect and the newly discovered osteogenic and antibacterial actions.

Keywords: antioxidant effect, antibacterial effect, anti-inflammatory effect, drug interactions, osteogenic effect

## CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	107
NTRODUCTION	127
PHARMACOKINETICS	127
EFFECTS ON CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM	128
EFFECTS ON SKELETAL SYSTEM	129
EFFECTS ON SMOOTH MUSCLE	130
EFFECTS ON GASTRIC INTESTINAL SYSTEM	130
EFFECTS ON ENDOCRINE SYSTEM	130
EFFECTS AGAINST TUMOUR	131
PROTECTIONS AGAINST TOXINS IN CHEMOTHERAPY DRUGS AND THE ENVIRONMENT	131
ANTIOXIDANT EFFECTS	133
ANTIMICROBIAL EFFECTS	134
DRUG INTERACTIONS	134
ANTIINFLAMMATORY EFFECTS	135
OTHER EFFECTS	135
REFERENCES	136

## INTRODUCTION

Naringin is a flavonoid compound found in grapefruit and other citrus fruit, naringin gives grapefruit its characteristic bitter flavor. With its aglycone naringinin, they are commonly used health supplements; they exert a variety of pharmacological actions. For example, it may be instrumental in inhibiting cancer-causing compounds and thus may have potential chemotherapeutic value. On the other hand, studies have also shown that naringin interferes with enzymatic activity in the intestines and, thus, with the breakdown of certain drugs, resulting in higher blood levels of the drug. In order to summarize their actions on health, a MEDLINE search covering the period 1977-2008 was performed to identify review articles, studies, and case reports referencing the biological properties of naringin and naringenin. The studies are divided into the following sections:

Pharmacokinetics Effects on cardiovascular system

Effects on skeletal system

Effects on smooth muscle

- Effects on gastric intestinal system
- Effects on endocrine system
- Effects against tumour

Protection against toxins in chemotherapy drugs and the environment

- Antioxidant effects
- Antimicrobial effects
- Drug interactions
- Antiinflammatory effects
- Other effects

The studies in each section were arranged chronologically so that the research development can be followed and each of them were separated in individual paragraph, were started with aim/method, then the major results and end with conclusion for easy reference.

## PHARMACOKINETICS

Disposition of citrus flavonoids was evaluated after single oral doses of pure compounds (500 mg naringin and 500 mg hesperidin) and after multiple doses of combined grapefruit juice and orange juice and of once-daily grapefruit (Ameer *et al.* 1996). Cumulative urinary recovery indicated low bioavailability (< 25%) of naringin and hesperidin. The aglycones naringenin and hesperitin were detected in urine and plasma. Conclusion: Absorbed citrus flavanones may undergo glucuronidation before urinary excretion. Naringenin was administered intravenously and orally to rabbits, and naringin was administered orally. The concentration of naringenin in serum prior to and after enzymatic hydrolysis was determined by HPLC method (Hsiu *et al.* 2002). The absolute bioavailability of oral naringenin was only 4%, whereas after taking the conjugated naringenin into account, it increased to 8%. When naringin was administered orally, only little naringenin and predominantly its glucuronides/sulfates were circulating in the plasma. Conclusion: Extensive glucuronidation/sulfation of naringenin occurred during the first pass at gut wall.

Six healthy volunteers received orally 135 mg of each compound, hesperetin and naringenin, under fasting conditions. Blood samples were collected at 14 different time points over a 12 h period. Urine was collected over 24 h, in five sequential timed intervals (Kanaze et al. 2007). Pharmacokinetic analysis showed that both hesperetin and naringenin were rapidly absorbed and their concentrations in plasma observed 20 min after dosing and reached a peak in 4.0 and 3.5 h, respectively. The mean peak plasma concentration (C(max)) for hesperetin and naringenin were 825.78+/-410.63 ng/ml (2731.8+/-1358.4 nmol/l) and 2009.51+/-770.82 ng/ml (7386.6+/-2833.4 nmol/l), respectively and the mean AUC(0-infinity) values were 4846.20+/-1675.99 ng h/ml and 9424.52+/-2960.52 ng h/ml for hesperetin and naringenin, respectively. The elimination half-life for hesperetin was found to be 3.05+/-0.91 h and for naringenin 2.31+/-0.40 h, respectively. The mean values of the relative cumulative urinary excretion, as percentage of the administered dose, for hesperetin and naringenin, were found to be 3.26+/-0.44 and 5.81+/-0.81%, respectively. Conclusion: Oral administration of the flavanone aglycones, hesperetin and naringenin, lead to their rapid absorption as their conjugated forms. The cumulative urinary recovery data indicated low bioavailability for both flavanone aglycones, owing to extensive first-pass metabolism partly by cleavage of the C-ring by the enzymes of intestinal bacteria leading to degradation products such as phenolic acids.

Ten healthy beagles were administered 70 mg citrus flavonoids as a grapefruit extract contained in capsules, while two additional dogs were used as controls and given an excipient (Mata-Bilbao Mde et al. 2007). Naringin reached its maximun plasma concentration at around 80 min, whereas naringenin and naringenin glucuronide reached their maximun plasma concentrations at around 20 and 30 min, respectively. Maximum plasma concentrations of naringin, naringenin and naringenin glucuronide (medians and ranges) were 0.24 (0.05-2.08), 0.021 (0.001-0.3) and 0.09 (0.034-0.12)  $\mu$ mol/l, respectively. The areas under the curves were 23.161(14.04-70.62) min  $\times \mu$ mol/for nariningin, 1.78 (0.09-4.95) min  $\times$ µmol/l for naringenin and 22.5 (2.74-99.23) min  $\times$  µmol/l for naringenin glucuronide. The median and range values for mean residence time were 3.3 (1.5-9.3), 2.8 (0.8-11.2) and 8.0 (2.3-13.1) h for naringin, naringenin and naringenin glucuronide, respectively. Conclusion: The results of this study demonstrate the absorption of grapefruit flavanones via the presence of their metabolites in plasma.

## **EFFECTS ON CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM**

The effect on hematocrits of adding grapefruit to the daily diet was determined using 36 human subjects (12 F, 24 M) over a 42-day study (Robbins *et al.* 1988). The hematocrits ranged from 36.5 to 55.8% at the start and 38.8% to 49.2% at the end of the study. Conclusion: Ingestion of grapefruit lowers elevated hematocrits in human subjects.

The cholesterol-lowering effects of tangerine peel extract and a mixture of two citrus flavonoids were tested (Bok *et al.* 1999). The inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase and ACAT activities resulting from either tangerine-peel extract or its bioflavonoids could account for the decrease in fecal neutral sterol. Conclusion: Plasma and hepatic cholesterol and hepatic activities of 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) reductase and acyl CoA: cholesterol transferase (ACAT) are lower in rats fed citrus peel extract or a mixture of citrus bioflavonoids.

The effects of the citrus bioflavonoid naringin were tested by using it as a supplement in a high-cholesterol diet (Shin *et al.* 1999). The combination of the inhibited HMG-CoA reductase (-24.4%) and ACAT (-20.2%) activities as a result of naringin supplementation could account for the decrease of fecal neutral sterols. Conclusion: Hypocholesterolemic effect of naringin associated with hepatic cholesterol regulating enzyme changes in rats.

The anti-atherogenic effects of the citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin, were evaluated in high cholesterolfed rabbits (Lee *et al.* 2001). The anti-atherogenic effect of the citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin, is involved with a decreased hepatic ACAT activity and with the downregulation of VCAM-1 and MCP-1 gene expression. Conclusion: Anti-atherogenic effect of citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin.

The interactive effect of naringin and vitamin E was studied with respect to cholesterol metabolism and antioxidant status in high-cholesterol-fed rats (Choi *et al.* 2001). Naringin lowers the plasma lipid concentrations when the dietary vitamin E level is low. The HMG-CoA reductaseinhibitory effect of naringin was more potent when dietary vitamin E was at a normal level. Conclusion: Interactive effect of naringin and vitamin E on cholesterol biosynthesis.

This study evaluated the effect of naringin on blood lipid levels and aortic fatty streaks, and its action mechanism in hypercholesterolemic rabbits (Choe *et al.* 2001). Naringin treatment inhibited hypercholesterolemia-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression on endothelial cells. Hypercholesterolemia caused fatty liver and elevation of liver enzymes, which was prevented by naringin but not by lovastatin. Conclusion: Naringin has an antiatherogenic effect with the inhibition of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in hypercholesterolemic rabbits.

The effect of naringin and rutin on the metabolism lipidic of chicks hypercholesterolemic was evaluated (da Silva *et al.* 2001). Naringin and rutin reduced the levels of total cholesterol significantly, cholesterol-LDL, cholesterol-VLDL and triglycerols, not presenting, however, reductions in the levels of cholesterol-HDL. Conclusion: Hypocholesterolemic effect of naringin and rutin flavonoids.

The susceptibility of LDL to *in vitro* oxidation was assessed. LDL oxidation were monitored by change in 234absorbance in the presence and absence of pure flavonoids (Naderi *et al.* 2003). Genistein, morin and naringin have stronger inhibitory activity against LDL oxidation than biochanin A or apigenin. Conclusion: Flavonoids prevent *in vitro* LDL oxidation and probably would be important to prevent atherosclerosis.

The effect of naringin on hypercholesterolemic subjects was studied. A hypercholesterolemic group (n = 30) and healthy control group (n = 30) were established (Jung *et al.* 2003). Naringin supplementation was found to lower the plasma total cholesterol by 14% and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations by 17%, apolipoprotein B levels were significantly lowered, erythrocyte superoxide dismutase and catalase activities were significantly increased. Conclusion: Naringin may play an important role in lowering plasma cholesterol and regulating the antioxidant capacity in hypercholesterolemic subjects.

The lipid lowering and antioxidant capacity of naringin was evaluated in LDL receptor knockout (LDLR-KO) mice fed a cholesterol (0.1 g/100 g) diet (Kim *et al.* 2004). The hepatic HMG-CoA reductase activity was significantly lower in the naringin and lovastatin supplemented groups than in the control group, the superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione reductase activities were all significantly higher in the naringin-supplemented group than in the control group. Conclusion: Naringin lowers the plasma cholesterol level via the inhibition of hepatic HMG-CoA reductase activity and improve the activities of hepatic antioxidant enzymes against oxidative stress.

Effects of flavonoids to improve retinal function recovery after ischemic insult were studied. Electroretinography was used to measure the b-wave recovery as an indication of retinal function recovery (Chiou and Xu 2004). Naringenin, hesperetin, and rutin were found to produce marked positive effects on b-wave recovery, whereas naringin, hesperidin, and quercetin showed poor recovery of b-wave after ischemic insult of the retina. Conclusion:

Flavonoids that showed strong increase of ocular blood flow also showed marked increase of retinal function recovery.

The protective effect of naringin against the damage inflicted by ROS during renal I/R was investigated in Sprague-Dawley rats using histopathological and biochemical parameters (Singh and Chopra 2004). Pretreatment of animals with naringin markedly attenuated renal dysfunction, morphological alterations, reduced elevated TBARS levels and restored the depleted renal antioxidant enzymes. Conclusion: Reactive oxygen species (ROS) play a causal role in renal ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) induced renal injury and naringin exert renoprotective effects probably by the radical scavenging and antioxidant activities.

To confirm the hypocholesterolemic role of naringin, male rabbits were fed 0.5% high-cholesterol diet or highcholesterol diet supplemented with either 0.05% naringin or 0.03% lovastatin for 8 weeks (Jeon *et al.* 2004). The naringin and lovastatin supplements significantly lowered plasma total- and LDL-cholesterol and hepatic lipids levels, while significantly increasing the HDL-C/total-C ratio compared to the control group. Conclusion: Both naringin and lovastatin contributed to hypocholesterolemic action. Naringin seemed to preserve tissue morphology from damage induced by high cholesterol diet.

The potential vasorelaxant, antioxidant and cyclic nucleotide PDE inhibitory effects of the citrus-fruit flavonoids naringin and (+/-)-naringenin were comparatively studied (Orallo *et al.* 2005). (+/-)-naringenin relaxed, in a concentration-dependent manner, the contractions elicited by phenylephrine (PHE, 1  $\mu$ M) or by a high extracellular KCl concentration (60 mM) in intact rat aortic rings. Conclusion: The vasorelaxant effects of (+/-)-naringenin seem to be basically related to the inhibition of phosphodiesterase (PDE)1, PDE4 and PDE5 activities.

Patients with stage I hypertension, the antihypertensive effect of juice of the so-called sweetie fruit (a hybrid between grapefruit and pummelo) with and without high flavonoid content were studied (Reshef *et al.* 2005). The highflavonoid (HF) sweetie juice was more effective than LF sweetie juice in reducing diastolic blood pressure. Conclusion: The active ingredients associated with the antihypertensive effect of sweetie juice are the flavonoids naringin and narirutin.

The effect of the flavonoids hesperidin and naringin on glucose and lipid regulation in C57BL/KsJ-db/db mice was studied (Jung *et al.* 2006). Hesperidin and naringin effectively lowered the plasma free fatty acid and plasma and hepatic triglyceride levels, and simultaneously reduced the hepatic fatty acid oxidation and carnitine palmitoyl transferase activity. Conclusion: Hesperidin and naringin are beneficial for improving hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia in type-2 diabetic animals.

The preventive effect of naringin in isoproterenol (ISO)-induced myocardial infarction (MI) in rats was studied (Rajadurai and Prince 2006). Pretreatment with naringin significantly decreased the levels of total, ester, and free cholesterol, triglycerides, and free fatty acids in serum and heart and increased phospholipids in heart. Conclusion: Naringin has a lipid-lowering effect in ISO-induced MI rats.

The cardioprotective potential of naringin on lipid peroxides, enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidants and histopathological findings in ISO-induced MI in rats were evaluated (Rajadurai and Prince 2006). Oral administration of naringin to ISO-induced rats showed a significant decrease in the levels of lipid peroxidative products and improved the antioxidant status. Histopathological findings of the myocardial tissue showed the protective role of naringin in ISOinduced rats. Conclusion: Naringin possesses antilipoperoxidative and antioxidant activity in experimentally induced cardiac toxicity.

The preventive role of naringin on cardiac troponin T (cTnT), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)-isoenzyme, cardiac marker enzymes, electrocardiographic (ECG)-patterns and lysosomal enzymes in ISO-induced MI in male Wistar rats were investigated (Rajadurai and Prince 2007). Pretreatment with naringin positively altered the levels of cTnT, intensity of the bands of the LDH1 and LDH2-isoenzyme and the activities of cardiac marker enzymes, ECG-patterns and lysosomal hydrolases in ISO-induced rats. Conclusion: Naringin possess cardioprotective effect in ISO-induced MI in rats.

Naringin was investigated for its differential effects on hepatic cholesterol regulation when supplemented for 3 weeks and 6 weeks in Sprague-Dawley rats (Kim *et al.* 2006). Supplementation with naringin did not exhibit a hypolipidemic effect when given with a HFHC diet. Naringin can, however, be beneficial for lowering hepatic cholesterol biosynthesis and levels of plasma lipids in this animal model. Conclusion:

Naringin time-dependently lowers hepatic cholesterol biosynthesis and plasma cholesterol in rats fed high-fat and high-cholesterol diet.

The preventive role of naringin on heart weight, blood glucose, total proteins, albumin/globulin (A/G) ratio, serum uric acid, serum iron, plasma iron binding capacity and membrane bound enzymes and glycoproteins such as hexose, hexosamine, fucose and sialic acid in ISO-induced MI in rats and *in vitro* free radical scavenging assay were studied (Rajadurai and Prince 2007). Pretreatment with naringin exhibited a significant effect and altered these biochemical parameters positively in ISO-induced rats. Naringin also scavenges 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl, 2,2'-azinobis-(3-ethyl-benzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) and nitric oxide radicals *in vitro*. Conclusion: Naringin has cardioprotective role in ISO-induced MI in rats.

The preventive role of naringin on mitochondrial enzymes in ISO-induced MI in male albino Wistar rats was stu-died (Rajadurai and Prince 2007). Oral pretreatment with naringin to ISO-induced rats daily for a period of 56 days significantly minimized the alterations in all the biochemical parameters and restored the normal mitochondrial function. Transmission electron microscopic observations also correlated with these biochemical findings.

Rajadurai and Prince (2009) evaluated the preventive role of naringin on mitochondrial lipid peroxides, antioxidants and lipids in ISO-induced MI in male Wistar rats. Oral pretreatment with naringin (10, 20 and 40 mg/kg) to ISO-induced rats daily for a period of 56 days significantly decreased the levels of mitochondrial lipid peroxides with a significant increase in the activities/levels of mitochondrial antioxidants and significantly minimized the alterations in the mitochondrial lipid levels in ISO-induced rats. Conclusion: naringin prevents alterations in mitochondrial lipid peroxides, antioxidants and lipids in ISO-induced MI in rats.

#### **EFFECTS ON SKELETAL SYSTEM**

The influence of dietary bioflavonoid (rutin [R], quercetin [Q], and naringin [N]) supplementation on physiological molar crestal alveolar bone (CAB)-cemento-enamel junction (CEJ) distances in young male albino rats was studied (Wood 2004). The N group demonstrated the lowest CAB-CEJ distance, followed by the R and Q groups (P <.001-.05), except in the mandibular lingual region, where the Q group had a lower CAB-CEJ distance than the N and R groups (P <.05). The control group showed the largest CAB-CEJ distances. Conclusion: Rutin, quercetin, and naringin supplementation reduce molar crestal alveolar bone-cemento-enamel junction distance in young rats.

The amount of new bone produced by naringin in collagen matrix to that produced by bone grafts and collagen matrix in rabbits was compared (Wong and Rabie 2006). A total of 284 and 490% more new bone was present in defects grafted with naringin in collagen matrix than those grafted with bone and collagen, respectively. Conclusion: Naringin in collagen matrix have the effect of increasing new bone formation locally and can be used as a bone graft material.

The effect of naringin, which was also a HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, was studied in UMR 106 osteoblastic cell line *in vitro* (Wong and Rabie 2006). Naringin significantly increased bone cell activities *in vitro*. Conclusion: Besides statin, this provided another example of HMG-CoA reductase inhibition that increases the bone cell activities.

The osteoblastic activity of extracts of Drynaria fortunei (Kunze) J. Sm. rhizome was assayed in the UMR106 cell line cultured *in vitro* (Li *et al.* 2006). The ethanol extract, and its ethyl acetate and *n*-butanol fractions exhibited stimulating activity. Conclusion: Two active constituents were isolated and identified as naringin and neoeriocitrin.

A retinoic acid-induced osteoporosis model of rats was used to assess whether naringin has similar bioactivity against osteoporosis *in vitro* (Wei *et al.* 2007). A blood test showed that naringin-treated rats experienced significantly lower activity of serum alkaline phosphatase and had higher femur bone mineral density, compared to untreated rats. Conclusion: These outcomes suggest that naringin offer a potential in the management of osteoporosis *in vitro*.

Naringin was shown to enhance alkaline phosphatase activity, osteocalcin level, osteopontin synthesis and cell proliferation in primary cultured osteoblasts. Naringin increased mRNA and protein levels of BMP-2 using Western blot, ELISA and RT-PCR assay (Wu *et al.* 2008) In addition, naringin also prevented the decreasing of BMP-2 and bone loss inducing by ovariectomy *in vivo*. Conclusion: naringin increase BMP-2 expression and enhance osteogenic response via the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), Akt, c-Fos/ c-Jun and AP-1-dependent signaling pathway.

#### EFFECTS ON SMOOTH MUSCLE

Effect of naringin and naringenin on contractions induced by noradrenaline in rat vas deferens was studied (Herrera and Marhuenda 1993). Naringin significantly increased contractions induced by noradrenaline in rat vas deferens. Naringenin increased the contractile effect of noradrenaline and was dose dependent. Conclusion: Naringin and naringinin increased contractions induced by noradrenaline in rat vas deferens.

The potency, structure-activity relationship, and mechanism of vasorelaxation of flavonols: fisetin, rutin, quercetin; flavones: chrysin, flavone, baicalein; flavanones: naringenin, naringin; isoflavones: diadzein and flavanes: epigallo catechin gallate, were examined in the isolated rat aorta (Ajay *et al.* 2003). Most of the flavonoids tested showed concentration dependent relaxant effects against K+ (80 mM) and phenylephrine (PE, 0.1  $\mu$ M)-induced contractions with a greater inhibition of the responses to the  $\alpha$ 1-adrenoceptor agonist. Conclusion: Relaxant effects of flavonoids on vascular smooth muscle of the isolated rat thoracic aorta.

The mechanical and electrophysiological effects of (+/-)naringenin were investigated In vascular smooth muscle cells (Saponara *et al.* 2006). (+/-)-Naringenin induced concentration-dependent relaxation in endothelium-denuded rat aortic rings. Conclusion: The vasorelaxant effect of the naturally-occurring flavonoid (+/-)-naringenin on endothelium-denuded vessels was due to the activation of BK(Ca) channels in myocytes.

#### EFFECTS ON GASTRIC INTESTINAL SYSTEM

The gastric anti-ulcer activity of a specific histidine decarboxylase inhibitor naringenin, has been studied on the various types of ulcers experimentally induced in rats, viz., pylorus-ligated (Shay method) and restraint ulcers, and on the gastric mucosal damage induced by aspirin, phenylbutazone or reserpine (Parmar 1983). Naringenin possessed significant anti-ulcer activity in all these models, manifesting a dose-dependent anti-ulcer effect. Conclusion: Naringenin, a specific histidine decarboxylase inhibitor, has gastric antiulcer activity.

To determine the gastroprotective properties of naringin on and the involvement of endogenous prostaglandins in mucosal injury produced by absolute ethanol (Martín *et al.* 1994). Oral pretreatment with the highest dose of naringin (400 mg/kg), 60 min before absolute ethanol was the most effective antiulcer treatment. Conclusion: Naringin has a 'cytoprotective' effect against ethanol injury in the rat, but this property appears to be mediated by non-prostaglandindependent mechanisms.

Whether specific flavonoids induce cell migration in colon epithelial cells either wild type or heterozygous for Apc genotype was studied (Fenton and Hord 2004). Naringin and hesperidin induced the greatest migratory response in IMCE cells at 1 microM and induced migration greater than untreated control cells. Conclusion: Flavonoids promote cell migration in nontumorigenic colon epithelial cells differing in Apc genotype.

#### EFFECTS ON ENDOCRINE SYSTEM

A structure-activity study of 13 commonly consumed flavonoids was conducted to evaluate inhibition of thyroid peroxidase (TPO), the enzyme that catalyzes thyroid hormone biosynthesis (Divi and Doerge 1996). Inhibition by the more potent fisetin, kaempferol, naringenin, and quercetin, was consistent with mechanism-based inactivation of TPO as previously observed for resorcinol and derivatives. Myricetin and naringin inhibited TPO by different mechanisms. Conclusion: Dietary flavonoids inhibit thyroid peroxidase.

This study reports on some environmental chemicals with estrogenic activity (xenoestrogens) and their binding interaction for human plasma sex-hormone binding globulin (hSHBG) (Déchaud *et al.* 1999). The flavonoid phytoestrogens genistein and naringenin were also identified as hSHBG ligands, whereas their glucoside derivatives, genistin and naringin, had no binding activity for hSHBG. Conclusion: Naringinin interacts with human sex hormone-binding globulin.

Several flavonoids, such as rutin, kaempferol, quercetin, apigenin, naringin, morin and biochanin A were selected to determine their antioxidant effects on *in vitro* insulin, hemoglobin and albumin glycosylation (Asgary *et al.* 2002). Biochanin A, the best inhibitor of insulin and hemoglobin glycosylation, inhibits their glycosylation 100 and 60%, respectively. Glycosylation of albumin was inhibited 100% by both biochanin A and apigenin. Conclusion: Plants containing flavonoids may have preventive effects in diabetic complications.

The effect of citrus bioflavonoids on blood glucose level, hepatic glucose-regulating enzymes activities, hepatic glycogen concentration, and plasma insulin levels was studied, and assessed the relations between plasma leptin and body weight, blood glucose, and plasma insulin (Jung *et al.* 2004). Hesperidin and naringin supplementation significantly reduced blood glucose compared with the control group. Naringin also markedly lowered the activity of heaptic glucose-6-phosphatase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase compared with the control group. Conclusion: Hesperidin and naringin prevent the progression of hyperglycemia, by increasing hepatic glycolysis and glycogen concentration and/or by lowering hepatic gluconeogenesis.

The effect of various doses of naringin was studied on streptozotocin (STZ)-induced hyperglycaemic rats to evaluate the possible hypoglycaemic and antioxidant activity of naringin in diabetes (Ali and El Kader 2004). Exogenous administration of naringin to hyperglycaemic rats causes a dose-dependent decrease of the glucose level, an increase of the insulin concentration, a decrease of the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and TBARS levels, as well as the increase of the total antioxidant status. Conclusion: Naringin provided a significant amelioration of hypoglycaemic and antioxidant activity in STZ-induced diabetic rats.

Using purified intestinal brush border membrane vesi-

cles and everted intestinal sleeves, glucose uptake in intestine was studied with naringinin and naringin (Li *et al.* 2006). Naringenin, but not naringin, significantly inhibited glucose uptake in the intestine. Conclusion: Inhibition of intestinal glucose uptake and renal glucose reabsorption explains, the antihyperglycemic action of naringenin and its derivatives.

The combined protective role of low dose of naringin (15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and vitamin C (25 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and high dose of naringin (30 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and vitamin C (50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) on streptozotocin (STZ)-induced toxicity was studied in male Wistar rats (Punithavathi *et al.* 2008). Oral administration of high doses of naringin (30 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and vitamin C (50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) to diabetic rats for a period of 21 days normalized all the above-mentioned biochemical parameters. Conclusion: the antihyperglycemic and antioxidant effects of naringin and vitamin C in STZ-induced type II diabetes mellitus in rats.

## EFFECTS AGAINST TUMOUR

Two citrus flavonoids, hesperetin and naringenin, and four noncitrus flavonoids, baicalein, galangin, genistein, and quercetin, were tested singly and in one-to-one combinations for their effects on proliferation and growth of a human breast carcinoma cell line, MDA-MB-435. These compounds, were tested for their ability to inhibit development of mammary tumors in female Sprague-Dawley rats (So *et al.* 1996). IC50 values for the one-to-one combinations ranged from 4.7 micrograms/ml (quercetin + hesperetin, quercetin + naringenin) to 22.5  $\mu$ grams/ml (naringenin + hesperetin). Rats given orange juice had a smaller tumor burden than controls, although they grew better than any of the other groups. Conclusion: Citrus flavonoids are effective inhibitors of human breast cancer cell proliferation *in vitro*, especially when paired with quercetin.

The antimutagenicity of the *Citrus* flavonoids naringin, hesperidin, nobiletin, and tangeretin against the mutagens benzo[ $\alpha$ ]pyrene, 2-aminofluorene, quercetin, and nitroquinoline N-oxide was investigated in the *Salmonella*/microsome assay (Calomme *et al.* 1996). Naringin and hesperidin showed a weak antimutagenic activity against benzo[ $\alpha$ ]pyrene. Conclusion: The antimutagenic properties the *Citrus* flavonoids, especially tangeretin and nobiletin, might prevent cancer.

To investigate the possible relationship between intake of flavonoids-powerful dietary antioxidants that may also inhibit P450 enzymes-and lung cancer risk, we conducted a population-based, case-control study in Hawaii (Le Marchand *et al.* 2000). Authors found statistically significant inverse associations between lung cancer risk and the main food sources of the flavonoids quercetin (onions and apples) and naringin (white grapefruit). Conclusion: Foods rich in certain flavonoids may protect against certain forms of lung cancer. Decreased bioactivation of carcinogens by inhibition of CYP1A1 should be explored.

Russo *et al.* (2000) investigated the free-radical scavenging capacity of bioflavonoids (rutin, catechin, and naringin) and the effects of these polyphenols on xanthine oxidase activity, spontaneous lipid peroxidation, and DNA cleavage. The bioflavonoids under examination showed a dose-dependent free-radical scavenging effect, a significant inhibition of xanthine oxidase activity, and an antilipoperoxidative capacity. In addition, they showed a protective effect on DNA cleavage. Conclusion: Bioflavonoids as antiradicals, antioxidants and DNA cleavage protectors.

The effects of various flavonoids and carotenoids on Rhodamine 123 accumulation in MDR Colo 320 human colon cancer cells expressing MDR1/LRP were studied. The Colo 205 cell line was used as a drug-sensitive control (Ugocsai *et al.* 2005). Catechin, neohesperidin, naringin, robinin, phloridzin, dihydrobinetin and sakuranetin, had only marginal effects on Rhodamine 123 accumulation. Conclusion: The tested flavonoids were weak apoptosis inducers on multidrug-resistant (MDR) and parent cells. The hypothesis that untreated and irradiated grapefruit as well as the isolated citrus compounds naringin and limonin would protect against azoxymethane (AOM)-induced aberrant crypt foci (ACF) by suppressing proliferation and elevating apoptosis through anti-inflammatory activities was examined (Vanamala *et al.* 2006). Lower levels of iNOS and COX-2 are associated with suppression of proliferation and upregulation of apoptosis, which may have contributed to a decrease in the number of high multiplicity ACF in rats provided with untreated grapefruit and limonin. Conclusion: Consumption of grapefruit or limonin may help to suppress colon cancer development.

Whether secondary plant constituents, i.e., flavonoids, tocopherols, curcumin, and other substances regulate VEGF in human tumor cells in vitro was studied by measuring VEGF release by ELISA from MDA human breast cancer cells and, for comparison, U-343 and U-118 glioma cells (Schindler and Mentlein 2006). The rank order of VEGF inhibitory potency was naring  $\hat{n} > rutin > \alpha$ -tocopheryl succinate > lovastatin > apigenin > genistein >  $\alpha$ -tocopherol > or= kaempferol >  $\gamma$ -tocopherol; chrysin and curcumin were inactive except at a concentration of 100 µmol/L. Glioma cells were similarly sensitive, with U343 more than U118, especially for a-TOS and tocopherols. Conclusion: Glycosylated flavonoids (i.e., naringin, a constituent of citrus fruits, and rutin, a constituent of cranberries) induced the greatest response to treatment at the lowest concentration in MDA human breast cancer cells.

Six citrus flavonoids were tested for antineoplastic activity (Miller *et al.* 2008). The hamster cheek pouch model was utilized, and the solutions of the flavonoids (2.0-2.5%) and the solution of the carcinogen, 7,12-dimethylbenz[ $\alpha$ ]anthracene (0.5%), were applied topically to the pouches. The results with naringin and naringenin show that both of these flavonoids significantly lowered tumor number [5.00 (control group), 2.53 (naringin group), and 3.25 (naringenin group)]. Naringin also significantly reduced tumor burden [269 mm<sup>3</sup> (control group) and 77.1 mm<sup>3</sup> (naringin group)]. Conclusion: naringin and naringenin may be able to inhibit the development of cancer.

#### PROTECTIONS AGAINST TOXINS IN CHEMOTHERAPY DRUGS AND THE ENVIRONMENT

55 different flavonoids were tested for their effect on okadaic acid-inhibited autophagy, measured as the sequestration of electroinjected [3H] raffinose (Gordon *et al.* 1995). Naringin (naringenin 7-hesperidoside) and several other flavanone and flavone glycosides (prunin, neoeriocitrin, neohesperidin, apiin, rhoifolin, kaempferol 3-rutinoside) offered virtually complete protection against the autophagyinhibitory effect of okadaic acid. Conclusion: Naringin and other okadaic acid-antagonistic flavonoids could have potential therapeutic value as protectants against pathological hyperphosphorylations, environmental toxins, or side effects of chemotherapeutic drugs.

Suppressive effects of naringin on lipopolysaccharideinduced tumor necrosis factor (TNF) release followed by liver injury were investigated (Kawaguchi *et al.* 1999). Treatment with naringin 3 h prior to lipopolysaccharide challenge resulted in complete protection from lipopolysaccharide lethality in D-galactosamine-sensitized mice. Conclusion: Action of naringin is mediated through suppression of lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF production.

The protein phosphatase-inhibitory algal toxins, okadaic acid and microcystin-LR, induced overphosphorylation of keratin and disruption of the keratin cytoskeleton in freshly isolated rat hepatocytes. In hepatocyte cultures, the toxins elicited DNA fragmentation and apoptotic cell death within 24 h (Blankson *et al.* 2000). All these toxin effects could be prevented by the grapefruit flavonoid, naringin. The cytoprotective effect of naringin was apparently limited to normal hepatocytes, since the toxin-induced apoptosis of hepatoma cells, rat or human, was not prevented by the flavonoid. Conclusion: Prevention of toxin-induced cytoskeletal disruption and apoptotic liver cell death by the grapefruit flavonoid, naringin.

Authors investigated the effects of five citrus phytochemicals on the *in vitro* metabolism of the tobacco-specific nitrosamine NNK and on the dealkylation of methoxyresorufin (MROD) and pentoxyresorufin (PROD) in liver and lung microsomes of the Syrian golden hamster (Bear and Teel 2000a). Results suggest that naringenin and quercetin from citrus fruits inhibit the activity of cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoforms that activate NNK and may afford protection against NNK-induced carcinogenesis. Conclusion: Naringenin inhibits the activity of cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoforms that activate NNK.

Using Aroclor 1254 induced rat liver S9, four citrus flavonoids: diosmin, naringenin, naringin and rutin were tested for their effects on the mutagenicity of HCA's MeIQx, Glu-P-1\*, IQ and PhIP in Salmonella typhimurium TA98 (Bear and Teel 2000b). MeIQx induced mutagenesis and PhIP induced mutagenesis in S. typhimurium were significantly inhibited by all four flavonoids. Glu-P-1 induced mutagenesis was inhibited by rutin and naringenin. IQ induced mutagenesis was significantly inhibited by each flavonoid except diosmin. Conclusion: Diosmin, naringin, naringenin and rutin are chemoprotective towards CYPIA2 mediated mutagenesis of heterocyclic amines (HCAs).

The effect of various doses of naringin was studied on the alteration in the radiation-induced micronucleated polychromatic (MPCE) and normochromatic (MNCE) erythrocytes in mouse bone marrow exposed to 2 Gy of 60Co  $\gamma$ radiation (Jagetia and Reddy 2002). Naringin is able to protect mouse bone marrow cells against the radiation-induced DNA damage and decline in the cell proliferation as observed by a reduction in the micronucleus frequency and an increase in PCE/NCE ratio, respectively, in the naringinpretreated irradiated group. Conclusion: Naringin protects against the radiation-induced genomic instability in the mice bone marrow.

The effect of naringin supplements on the alcohol, lipid, and antioxidant metabolism in ethanol-treated rats was investigated (Seo *et al.* 2003). Naringin would appear to contribute to alleviating the adverse effect of ethanol ingestion by enhancing the ethanol and lipid metabolism as well as the hepatic antioxidant defense system. Conclusion: Naringin supplement regulate lipid and ethanol metabolism.

The effects of naringin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis in mouse leukemia P388 cells were investigated (Kanno *et al.* 2003).  $H_2O_2$ -induced cytotoxicity was significantly attenuated by naringin or the reduced form of glutathione, a typical intracellular antioxidant. Naringin suppressed chromatin condensation and DNA damage induced by  $H_2O_2$ . Conclusion: Naringin from natural products is a useful drug having antioxidant and anti-apoptopic properties.

The radioprotective action of 2 mg/kg naringin in the bone marrow of mice exposed to different doses of  $^{60}$ Co  $\gamma$ -radiation was studied by scoring the frequency of asymmetrical chromosomal aberrations (Jagetia *et al.* 2003). Naringin at 5  $\mu$ M scavenged the 2,2-azino-bis-3-ethyl benzothia-zoline-6-sulphonic acid cation radical very efficiently, where a 90% scavenging was observed. Conclusion: Naringin can protect mouse bone marrow cells against radiation-induced chromosomal damage.

The effect of naringin and naringenin protect hemoglobin from nitrite-induced oxidation to methemoglobin was studied (Kumar *et al.* 2003). Naringenin was more effective than naringin, probably because of the extra phenolic group in the aglycone. Conclusion: Naringin and naringenin inhibit nitrite-induced methemoglobin formation.

The protective effect of the naringin was studied in an endotoxin shock model based on *Salmonella* infection. Intraperitoneal (i.p.) infection with 10 (8) CFU *Salmonella typhimurium* aroA caused lethal shock in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-responder but not LPS-non-responder mice (Kawaguchi *et al.* 2004). Administration of 1 mg naringin 3 h

before infection resulted in protection from lethal shock, similar to LPS-non-responder mice. Also resulted not only in a significant decrease in bacterial numbers in spleens and livers, but also in a decrease in plasma LPS levels. Conclusion: Suppression of infection-induced endotoxin shock in mice by naringin.

The effect of naringin on the cytotoxicity and apoptosis in mouse leukemia P388 cells treated with Ara-C. Ara-C caused cytotoxicity in a concentration and time-dependent manner in the cells was examined (Kanno *et al.* 2004). Naringin remarkably attenuated the Ara-C-induced apoptosis and completely blocked the DNA damage caused by Ara-C treatment at 6 h using the Comet assay. Conclusion: Naringin blocked apoptosis caused by Ara-C-induced oxidative stress, resulting in the inhibition of the cytotoxicity of Ara-C.

The effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid with anti-oxidant potential, was studied on Fe-NTA-induced nephrotoxicity in rats (Singh *et al.* 2004a). Pre-treatment of animals with naringin, 60 min before Fe-NTA administration, markedly attenuated renal dysfunction, morphological alterations, reduced elevated TBARS, and restored the depleted renal anti-oxidant enzymes. Conclusion: There is a protective effect of naringin on Fe-NTA-induced nephrotoxicity in rats.

The effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid with anti-oxidant potential, was studied in glycerol-induced ARF in rats (Singh *et al.* 2004b). Pretreatment of animals with naringin 60 min prior to glycerol injection markedly attenuated renal dysfunction, morphological alterations, reduced elevated TBARS, and restored the depleted renal antioxidant enzymes. Conclusion: There is a protective effect of naringin in glycerol-induced renal failure in rats.

Whether naringin treatment may help to overcome the iron-induced toxic effects *in vitro* was studied (Jagetia *et al.* 2004). Pretreatment of HepG2 cells with naringin resulted in an elevation in all the antioxidant enzymes. Conclusion: Enhanced antioxidant status by naringin could compensate the oxidative stress and may facilitate an early recovery from iron-induced genomic insult *in vitro*.

The alteration in the antioxidant status and lipid peroxidation was investigated in Swiss albino mice treated with 2 mg/kg b.wt. naringin, a citrus flavoglycoside, before exposure to 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 4 Gy  $\gamma$  radiation (Jagetia and Reddy 2005). The alteration in the antioxidant status and lipid peroxidation was investigated in Swiss albino mice treated with 2 mg/kg b.wt. naringin, a citrus flavoglycoside, before exposure to 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 4 Gy  $\gamma$  radiation. Conclusion: Naringin protects mouse liver and intestine against the radiation-induced damage by elevating the antioxidant status and reducing the lipid peroxidation.

The interaction of β-carotene with three flavonoids-naringin, rutin and quercetin-on DNA damage induced by ultraviolet A (UVA) in C3H10T1/2 cells was studied (Yeh et al. 2005). All three flavonoids had some absorption at the UVA range, but the effects were opposite to those on DNA damage and β-carotene oxidation. Conclusion: A Conclusion: combination of  $\beta$ -carotene with naringin, rutin or quercetin may increase the safety of  $\beta$ -carotene. The efficacy of naringin and naringenin on endotoxin- induced uveitis (EIU) in rats was studied. EIU was induced in male Lewis rats by a footpad injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Shiratori et al. 2005). 40 µM/kg of naringin and naringenin suppressed increases in cell count owing to LPS treatment by 31 and 38%, respectively. Conclusion: Possible mechanism for the antiocular inflammatory effect may be the suppression of PGE<sub>2</sub> and NO by naringin and naringenin.

The effect of naringin, on LPS-induced endotoxin shock in mice and NO production in RAW 264.7 macrophages was studied (Kanno *et al.* 2006). Naringin suppressed LPSinduced production of NO and the expression of inflamematory gene products such as iNOS, TNF-alpha, COX-2 and IL-6 as determined by RT-PCR assay. Conclusion: Suppression of the LPS-induced mortality and production of NO by NG is due to inhibition of the activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ .

The effect of naringin, a grapefruit flavonone was stu-

died on bleomycin-induced genomic damage and alteration in the survival of cultured V79 cells (Jagetia *et al.* 2005). Treatment of cells with naringin before exposure to different concentrations of bleomycin arrested the bleomycininduced decline in the cell survival accompanied by a significant reduction in the frequency of micronuclei when compared with bleomycin treatment alone. Conclusion: Naringin reduced the genotoxic effects of bleomycin and consequently increased the cell survival and therefore may act as a chemoprotective agent in clinical situations.

A diversity of antioxidants and plant ingredients were examined for their protective effect in cultured Balb/c 3T3 cells against ultraviolet A (UVA)-induced cytotoxicities of extracted air pollutants and benz[ $\alpha$ ]pyrene (B[ $\alpha$ ]P) (Hori *et al.* 2007). The B[ $\alpha$ ]P phototoxicity was not eliminated by well-known antioxidants but was markedly diminished by diversity of plant ingredients. Conclusion: Among the plant ingredients tested in the current study, morin, naringin, and quercetin were found to be desirable protectors against B[ $\alpha$ ]P phototoxicity.

### ANTIOXIDANT EFFECTS

Depletion of hepatic glutathione in phenobarbital-induced rats by phorone (diisopropylidene acetone) led to an enhancement of spontaneous lipid peroxidation *in vitro*. Addition of exogenous glutathione, dithiocarb or one of the flavonoids (+)-catechin, (-)-epicatechin, 3-O-methylcatechin, quercetin, taxifolin, rutin, naringin or naringenin led in every case to a dose-dependent inhibition of this peroxidetive activity (Younes and Siegers 1981). The concentration values yielding 50% inhibition (I (50)) varied from  $1.0 \times 10^{-6}$  M for glutathione to  $1.9 \times 10^{-5}$  M for naringenin. Conclusion: Some flavonoids have inhibitory action on enhanced spontaneous lipid peroxidation following glutathione depletion.

The antioxidant properties of freeze-dried citrus fruit peels (orange, lemon, grapefruit) and methanolic extracts from the peel were studied (Kroyer 1986). Freeze-dried orange peel showed the highest, lemon peel somewhat less and grapefruit peel the lowest but still remarkable antioxidant activity. Conclusion: Citrus fruit peels have antioxidant activity.

Cumene hydroperoxide induces *in vitro* the peroxidation of erythrocyte membrane. The protective effect of various flavonoids was compared to that of butylated hydroxyltoluene (BHT). Protective effect was evaluated by the inhibition of peroxidation product formation (Affany *et al.* 1987). Quercetin and catechin showed a protective effect against lipid peroxidation as high as that of BHT. Morin, rutin, trihydroxyethylrutin, and naringin were active but to a lesser degree. Conclusion: Flavonoids have protective effect against lipid peroxidation of erythrocyte membranes.

The *in vitro* effects of several flavonoids on nonenzymatic lipid peroxidation in the rat brain mitochondria was studied. The lipid peroxidation was indexed by using the 2thiobarbituric acid test (Ratty and Das 1988). The flavonoids, apigenin, flavone, flavanone, hesperidin, naringin, and tangeretin promoted the ascorbic acid-induced lipid peroxidation. Conclusion: Polyhydroxylated substitutions on rings A and B, a 2,3-double bond, a free 3-hydroxyl substitution and a 4-keto moiety confer antiperoxidative properties.

The superoxide anions scavenging activity and antioxidation of seven flavonoids were studied. The superoxide anions were generated in a phenazin methosulphate-NADH system and were assayed by reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium (Chen *et al.* 1990). The scavenging activity ranked: rutin was the strongest, and quercetin and naringin the second, while morin and hispidulin were very weak. Conclusion: Flavonoids are superoxide scavengers and antioxidants.

A variety of flavonoids, lignans, an alkaloid, a bisbenzyl, coumarins and terpenes isolated from Chinese herbs was tested for antioxidant activity as reflected in the ability to inhibit lipid peroxidation in rat brain and kidney homogenates and rat erythrocyte hemolysis. The pro-oxidant activities of the aforementioned compounds were assessed by their effects on bleomycin-induced DNA damage (Ng et al. 2000). The flavonoid rutin and the terpene tanshinone I manifested potent antioxidative activity in the lipid peroxidation assay but no inhibitory activity in the hemolysis assay. The lignan deoxypodophyllotoxin, the flavonoid naringin and the coumarins columbianetin, bergapten and angelicin slightly inhibited lipid peroxidation in brain and kidney homogenates. Conclusion: Aromatic hydroxyl group is very important for antioxidative effects of the compounds. None of the compounds tested exerted an obvious pro-oxidant effect. To determine the antioxidative effects of the citrus bioflavonoid, naringin, a potent cholesterol-lowering agent, compared to the cholesterol-lowering drug, lovastatin, in rabbits fed a high cholesterol diet (Jeon et al. 2001). Naringin regulate antioxidative capacities by increasing the SOD and catalase activities, up-regulating the gene expressions of SOD, catalase, and GSH-Px, and protecting the plasma vitamin E. Lovastatin exhibited an inhibitory effect on the plasma and hepatic lipid peroxidation and increased the hepatic catalase activity. Conclusion: Antioxidative activity of naringin and lovastatin in high cholesterol-fed rabbits.

Twenty male rabbits were served a high-cholesterol diet or high-cholesterol diet supplemented with naringin or probucol for 8 weeks to compare the antioxidative effects of the naringin and antioxidative cholesterol-lowering drug (probucol) (Jeon *et al.* 2002). The probucol supplement was very potent in the antioxidative defense system, whereas naringin exhibited a comparable antioxidant capacity based on increasing the gene expressions in the antioxidant enzymes, increasing the hepatic SOD and CAT activities, sparing plasma vitamin E, and decreasing the hepatic mitochondrial  $H_2O_2$  content. Conclusion: Antioxidant effects of naringin and probucol in cholesterol-fed rabbits.

A variety of *in vitro* models such as  $\beta$ -carotene-linoleic acid, 1,1-diphenyl-2-picryl hydrazyl (DPPH), superoxide, and hamster low-density lipoprotein (LDL) were used to measure the antioxidant activity of 11 citrus bioactive compounds (Yu *et al.* 2005). Flavonoids, which contain a chromanol ring system, had stronger antioxidant activity as compared to limonoids and bergapten, which lack the hydroxy groups. Conclusion: Several structural features were linked to the strong antioxidant activity of flavonoids.

The influence of naringin versus red grapefruit juice on plasma lipid levels and plasma antioxidant activity in rats fed cholesterol-containing and cholesterol-free diets was compared (Gorinstein *et al.* 2005). After 30 days of different feeding, it was found that diets supplemented with red grapefruit juice and to a lesser degree with naringin improved the plasma lipid levels mainly in rats fed cholesterol and increased the plasma antioxidant activity. Conclusion: Naringin is a powerful plasma lipid lowering and plasma antioxidant activity increasing flavonone. However, fresh red grapefruit is preferable than naringin.

The relationship between the influence of flavonoids on cell population growth and their antioxidant activity was studied (Hsu and Yen 2006). The inhibition of flavonoids (naringenin, rutin, hesperidin, resveratrol, naringin and quercetin) on 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes was 28.3, 8.1, 11.1, 33.2, 5.6 and 71.5%, respectively. Conclusion: Induction of cell apoptosis in 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes by flavonoids is associated with their antioxidant activity.

In order to understand the contribution of the metal coordination and the type of interaction between a flavonoid and the metal ion, in this study a new metal complex of Cu (II) with naringin was synthesized and characterized by FT-IR, UV-VIS, mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS), elemental analysis and 1H-NMR (Pereira *et al.* 2007). The results of these analyses indicate that the complex has a Cu (II) ion coordinated via positions 4 and 5 of the flavonoid. Conclusion: The Naringin-Cu (II) complex 1 showed higher antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and tumor cell cytotoxicity activities than free naringin without reducing cell viability.

#### ANTIMICROBIAL EFFECTS

Coumarins, flavonoids and polysaccharopeptide were tested for antibacterial activity. The bacteria used for this study included clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Shigella flexneri*, *Salmonella typhi*, *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Ng *et al.* 1996). When tested at the dose of 128 mg/l, the flavonoids (rutin, naringin and baicalin) inhibited 25% or less of *P. aeruginosa* and only baicalin was active against *S. aureus*. Conclusion: Naringin inhibited *P. aeruginosa*.

The effect of hesperetin, naringenin and its glycoside form on the Sindbis neurovirulent strain (NSV) replication *in vitro* was studied. All flavanones tested were not cytotoxic on Baby Hamster cells 21 clone 15 (BHK-21) (Paredes *et al.* 2003). Hesperetin and naringenin had inhibitory activity on NSV infection. However their glycosides, hesperidin and naringin did not have inhibitory activity. Implying that the presence of rutinose moiety of flavanones blocks the antiviral effect. Conclusion: Anti-Sindbis activity of flavanones hesperetin and naringenin.

Antibacterial and antifungal activity of ethanolic extract of grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi* Macf., Rutaceae) seed and pulp was examined against 20 bacterial and 10 yeast strains (Cvetnić and Vladimir-Knezević 2004). Ethanolic extract exhibited the strongest antimicrobial effect against *Salmonella enteritidis* (MIC 2.06%, m/V). Other tested bacteria and yeasts were sensitive to extract concentrations ranging from 4.13% to 16.50% (m/V). Conclusion: There exist antimicrobial activity of grapefruit seed and pulp ethanolic extract.

The present study evaluates two separate, but related, dietary trials-trial 1, dietary naringenin (NAR) supplementation; and trial 2, dietary rutin (R), quercetin (Q), and naringin (N) supplementation-on dental caries formation in 40 different male albino rats, at the expense of dextrose, for periods of 42 days (Wood 2007). An inverse dose-dependent relationship was established among the NAR experimental groups and control group. In dietary trial 2, statistically significant reductions in occlusal caries were observed for R, Q, and N in the maxillary molars and for Q and N in the mandibular molars compared with the control group. Conclusion: Selected bioflavonoids may show promise as an alternative means of reducing dental caries.

The effects of naringin on the growth of periodontal pathogens such as *A. actinomycetemcomitans* and *P. gingivalis* were studied *in vitro*. For comparison, the effects of naringin on several oral microbes were also studied (Tsui *et al.* 2008). Naringin also had an inhibitory effect against all bacteria and yeasts tested. Conclusion: Naringin possesses significant antimicrobial properties on periodontal pathogens *in vitro*. It also has an inhibitory effect on some common oral microorganisms in low concentrations.

#### **DRUG INTERACTIONS**

The effects of grapefruit juice and naringenin on the activity of the human cytochrome P450 isoform CYP1A2 were evaluated using caffeine as a probe substrate (Fuhr *et al.* 1993). *In vitro* naringin was a potent competitive inhibitor of caffeine 3-demethylation by human liver microsomes (Ki = 7-29  $\mu$ M). *In vivo* grapefruit juice decreased the oral clearance of caffeine and prolonged its half-life. Conclusion: Grapefruit juice and naringenin inhibit CYP1A2 activity in man.

The pharmacokinetics of felodipine and its single primary oxidative metabolite, dehydrofelodipine, were studied after drug administration with 200 ml water, grapefruit juice, or naringin in water at the same concentration as the juice in a randomized crossover trial of nine healthy men (Bailey *et al.* 1993a). Grapefruit juice produces a marked and variable increase in felodipine bioavailability. Naringin solution produced much less of an interaction, showing that other factors were important. Conclusion: Grapefruit juice produces a marked and variable increase in felodipine bioavailability. The pharmacokinetics of nisoldipine coat-core tablet were studied in a Latin square-designed trial in which 12 healthy men were administered the drug with water, grapefruit juice, or encapsulated naringin powder at the same amount as that assayed in the juice (Bailey *et al.* 1993b). The bioavailability of some dihydropyridine calcium antagonists can be markedly augmented by grapefruit juice. The naringin capsule did not change nisoldipine pharmacokinetics. Conclusion: The bioavailability of some dihydropyridine calcium antagonists can be augmented by grapefruit juice but does not involve naringin.

To investigate whether the presence of naringin is demanded for the inhibition of the coumarin 7-hydroxylase in man or other compounds are responsible for it (Runkel *et al.* 1997). While increasing amounts of grapefruit juice delay the excretion of 7-hydroxycoumarin by 2 h, increasing doses of naringin in water up to twofold do not cause any alteration in the time course of excretion. Conclusion: As naringin alone is ineffective, the inhibitory effect of grapefruit juice on the metabolism of coumarin is caused by at least one compound other than naringin.

A randomized crossover interaction study on the effects of grapefruit juice on the pharmacokinetics of nimodipine and its metabolites (Fuhr *et al.* 1998). Grapefruit juice increases oral nimodipine bioavailability. Conclusion: To avoid the interaction, nimodipine should not be taken with grapefruit juice.

To test whether naringin or 6',7'-dihydroxybergamottin is a major active substance in grapefruit juice-felodipine interaction in humans (Bailey *et al.* 1998). The findings show the importance of *in vivo* testing to determine the ingredients in grapefruit juice responsible for inhibition of cytochrome P450 3A4 in humans. Conclusion: Naringin and 6',7'-dihydroxybergamottin are not the major active ingredients, although they may contribute to the grapefruit juice-felodipine interaction.

Naringenin's inhibition of the metabolism of simvastatin in rat hepatocytes (the intrinsic clearance of simvastatin) was studied (Ubeaud *et al.* 1999). Naringenin present in grapefruit juice inhibits *in vitro* the metabolism of simvastatin, a HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor. Conclusion: *In vitro* inhibition of simvastatin metabolism in rat and human liver by naringenin.

In vitro and in vivo effects of naringin on microsomal monooxygenase were studied to evaluate the drug interaction of this flavonoid (Ueng *et al.* 1999). Naringenin is a potent inhibitor of benzo(a)pyrene hydroxylase activity *in* vitro and naringin reduces the P450 1A2 protein level *in* vivo. Conclusion: These effects may indicate a chemopreventive role of naringin against protoxicants activated by P450 1A2.

To see whether grapefruit juice bioflavonoids alter the permeation of vincristine across the blood-brain barrier, we conducted experiments with cultured mouse brain capillary endothelial cells (MBEC4 cells) *in vitro* and ddY mice *in vivo* (Mitsunaga *et al.* 2000). The *in vivo* brain-to-plasma concentration ratio of [3H]vincristine in ddY mice was decreased by coadministration of 0.1 mg/kg quercetin, but increased by 1.0 mg/kg quercetin. Kaempferol had a similar biphasic effect. Cchrysin, flavon, hesperetin, naringenin increased [3H]vincristine uptake in the 10-50  $\mu$ M range, and glycosides (hesperidin, naringin, rutin) were without effect. Conclusion: Patients taking drugs which are P-glycoprotein substrates may need to restrict their intake of bioflavonoid-containing foods and beverages, such as grapefruit juice.

33 flavonoids, occurring ubiquitously in foods of plant origin, were tested for their ability to alter the transport of the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic cefixime via the H+-coupled intestinal peptide transporter PEPT1 in the human intestinal epithelial cell line Caco-2 (Wenzel *et al.* 2001). Quercetin, genistein, naringin, diosmin, acacetin, and chrysin increased uptake of [14C] cefixime dose dependently by up to 60%. Conclusion: Flavonoids with EGF-receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitory activities enhance the intestinal absorption of the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic cefixime in Caco-2 cells. To evaluate the inhibition of CYP3A4 activity in human liver microsomes by flavonoids, furanocoumarins and related compounds and investigate possibly more important and potential inhibitors of CYP3A4 in grapefruit juice (Ho *et al.* 2001). Bergapten (5-methoxypsoralen) with the lowest IC50 value (19-36 microM) was the most potent CYP3A4 inhibitor. Conclusion: Bergapten appears to be a potent inhibitor of CYP3A4, and may therefore be primarily responsible for the effect of grapefruit juice on CYP3A4 activity.

The effect of naringin on the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of paclitaxel after oral administration of paclitaxel or its prodrug coadministered with naringin to rats was studied (Choi and Shin 2005). The bioavailability of paclitaxel coadministered as a prodrug with or without naringin was remarkably higher than the control. Conclusion: Enhanced paclitaxel bioavailability after oral coadministration of paclitaxel prodrug with naringin to rats.

The pharmacokinetics of verapamil and one of its metabolites, norverapamil, were investigated after oral administration of verapamil at a dose of 9 mg/kg without or with oral naringin at a dose of 7.5 mg/kg in rabbits (Kim and Choi 2005). With naringin, the total area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) of verapamil was significantly greater, the AUC(verapamil)/AUC(norverapamil) ratio was considerably greater. Conclusion: The metabolism of verapamil and the formation of norverapamil were inhibited by naringin possibly by inhibition of CYP3A in rabbits.

Pharmacokinetic parameters of diltiazem and desacetyldiltiazem were determined in rats following an oral administration of diltiazem to rats in the presence and absence of naringin (Choi and Han 2005). Absolute and relative bioavailability values of diltiazem in the presence of naringin were significantly higher than those from the control group. Conclusion: The concomitant use of naringin significantly enhanced the oral exposure of diltiazem in rats.

The effect of naringin on the pharmacokinetics of verapamil and its major metabolite, norverapamil in rabbits were studied (Yeum and Choi 2006). Pretreatment of naringin enhanced the oral bioavailability of verapamil. Conclusion: Verapamil dosage should be adjusted when given with naringin or a naringin-containing dietary supplement.

The effects of oral naringin on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous paclitaxel in rats were studied (Lim and Choi 2006). After intravenous administration of paclitaxel, the AUC was significantly greater, and Cl was significantly slower than controls. Conclusion: The inhibition of hepatic P-gp by oral naringin could also contribute to the significantly greater AUC of intravenous paclitaxel by oral naringin.

Inhibition of OATP1A2 transport by flavonoids in grapefruit (naringin) and orange (hesperidin) was conducted *in vitro*. Two randomized, crossover, pharmacokinetic studies were performed clinically (Bailey *et al.* 2007). Naringin most probably directly inhibited enteric OATP1A2 to decrease oral fexofenadine bioavailability. Inactivation of enteric CYP3A4 was probably not involved. Conclusion: Naringin is a major and selective clinical inhibitor of organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1A2 (OATP1A2) in grapefruit juice.

The esterase-inhibitory potential of 10 constitutive flavonoids and furanocoumarins toward p-nitrophenylacetate (PNPA) hydrolysis was investigated (Li *et al.* 2007). In Caco-2 cells, demonstrated to contain minimal CYP3A activity, the permeability coefficient of the prodrugs lovastatin and enalapril was increased in the presence of the active flavonoids kaempferol and naringenin, consistent with inhibition of esterase activity. Conclusion: Kaempferol and naringenin are shown to mediate pharmacokinetic drug interaction with the prodrugs lovastatin and enalapril due to their capability of esterase inhibition.

The potential interaction between selected ingredients of grapefruit juice and, the transport of talinolol, a P-gp substrate, across Caco-2 cells monolayers was determined in the absence and presence of distinct concentrations of grapefruit juice, bergamottin, 6',7'-dihydroxybergamottin, 6',7'-epoxybergamottin, naringin, and naringenin (de Castro *et al.* 2007). The flavonoid aglycone naringenin was around 10-fold more potent than its glycoside naringin with IC(50) values of 236 and 2409  $\mu$ M, respectively. Conclusion: The *in vitro* data suggest that compounds present in grape-fruit juice are able to inhibit the P-gp activity modifying the disposition of drugs that are P-gp substrates such as talinolol.

The cellular uptake of benzoic acid was examined in the presence and the absence of naringin, naringenin, morin, silybin and quercetin in Caco-2 cells (Shim *et al.* 2007). All the tested flavonoids except naringin significantly inhibited the cellular uptake of [(14)C]-benzoic acid. Particularly, naringenin and silybin exhibited strong inhibition effects. Conclusion: Some flavonoids appeared to be competitive inhibitors of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1).

#### ANTIINFLAMMATORY EFFECTS

Experiments are carried out on 35 male albino rats. The effect of the flavonoids naringin and rutin on the level of mastocytic and nonmastocytic histamine is studied, as well as on its release induced by compound 48/80 (2 mg/kg i. p.). The histamine content is determined fluorimetrically (Lambev *et al.* 1980a). Naringin and rutin have no effect on the levels of mastocytic and nonmastocytic histamine. They prevent the release of mastocytic histamine, induced by compound 48/80. Conclusion: Flavonoids with antioxidant action (naringin and rutin) prevent the release of mastocytic and nonmastocytic and nonmastocytic and nonmastocytic ant action (naringin and rutin) prevent the release of mastocytic and nonmastocytic histamine.

The authors examined antiexudative activity of bioflavonoids naringin and rutin in comparative aspect in two models of acute inflammation. The experiments were carried out on 180 male white rats and 24 guinea pigs (Lambev *et al.* 1980b). The two flavonoids manifested marked antiexudative effect in rats with experiments peritonitis. Conclusion: Naringin has antiexudative effect of in experimental pulmonary edema and peritonitis.

Eleven flavonoids included flavone, quercetin, taxifolin, chalcone, apigenin, fisetin, rutin, phloretin, tangeretin, hesperetin, and naringin were studied for their effects on human basophil histamine release triggered by six different stimuli (Middleton and Drzewiecki 1984). The flavonols, quercetin and fisetin, and the flavone, apigenin, exhibited a predilection to inhibit histamine release stimulated by IgEdependent ligands (antigen, anti-IgE, and con A). The flavanone derivatives, taxifolin and hesperetin, were inactive, as were the glycosides, rutin and naringin. The open chain congeners, chalcone and phloretin, also possessed inhibitory activity. Conclusion: Flavonoid inhibited human basophil histamine release stimulated by various agents.

The passive cutaneous anaphylaxis-inhibitory activity of the flavanones isolated from the pericarp of *Citrus unshiu* (Family Rutaceae) and the fruit of *Poncirus trifoliata* (Family Rutaceae) was studied (Park *et al.* 2005). Naringenin, hesperetin and ponciretin potently inhibited IgE-induced  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release from RBL-2H3 cells and the PCA reaction. Conclusion: Flavanone glycosides can be activated by intestinal bacteria, and may be effective toward IgE-induced atopic allergies.

#### OTHER EFFECTS

Flavonoids containing phenol B rings, e.g. naringenin, naringin, hesperetin and apigenin, were studied if they formed prooxidant metabolites that oxidised NADH upon oxidation by peroxidase/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Chan *et al.* 1999). Prooxidant phenoxyl radicals formed by these flavonoids cooxidise NADH to form NAD radicals which then activated oxygen. Conclusion: Naringin and naringinin have been identified as prooxidants independent of transition metal catalysed autoxidation reactions.

#### REFERENCES

- Affany A, Salvayre R, Douste-Blazy L (1987) Comparison of the protective effect of various flavonoids against lipid peroxidation of erythrocyte membranes (induced by cumene hydroperoxide). *Fundamental and Clinical Pharmacology* 1(6), 451-457
- Ajay M, Gilani AU, Mustafa MR (2003) Effects of flavonoids on vascular smooth muscle of the isolated rat thoracic aorta. *Life Sciences* 74(5), 603-612
- Ali MM, El Kader MA (2004) The influence of naringin on the oxidative state of rats with streptozotocin-induced acute hyperglycaemia. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung [C] 59(9-10), 726-733
- Ameer B, Weintraub RA, Johnson JV, Yost RA, Rouseff RL (1996) Flavanone absorption after naringin, hesperidin, and citrus administration. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 60(1), 34-40
- Asgary S, Naderi GA, Zadegan NS, Vakili R (2002) The inhibitory effects of pure flavonoids on *in vitro* protein glycosylation. *Journal of Herbal Pharmacotherapy* 2(2), 47-55
- Bailey DG, Arnold JM, Munoz C, Spence JD (1993a) Grapefruit juice felodipine interaction: mechanism, predictability, and effect of naringin. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 53(6), 637-642
- Bailey DG, Arnold JM, Strong HA, Munoz C, Spence JD (1993b) Effect of grapefruit juice and naringin on nisoldipine pharmacokinetics. *Clinical Phar*macology and Therapeutics 54(6), 589-594
- Bailey DG, Dresser GK, Leake BF, Kim RB (2007) Naringin is a major and selective clinical inhibitor of organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1A2 (OATP1A2) in grapefruit juice. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 81(4), 495-502
- Bailey DG, Kreeft JH, Munoz C, Freeman DJ, Bend JR (1998) Grapefruit juice-felodipine interaction: effect of naringin and 6', 7'–dihydroxybergamotin in humans. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 64(3), 248-256
- Bear WL, Teel RW (2000a) Effects of citrus phytochemicals on liver and lung cytochrome P450 activity and on the *in vitro* metabolism of the tobacco-specific nitrosamine NNK. *Anticancer Research* 20(5A), 3323-3329
- Bear WL, Teel RW (2000b) Effects of citrus flavonoids on the mutagenicity of heterocyclic amines and on cytochrome P450 1A2 activity. *Anticancer Re*search 20(5B), 3609-3614
- Blankson H, Grotterød EM, Seglen PO (2000) Prevention of toxin-induced cytoskeletal disruption and apoptotic liver cell death by the grapefruit flavonoid, naringin. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **7**, 739-746
- Bok SH, Lee SH, Park YB, Bae KH, Son KH, Jeong TS, Choi MS (1999) Plasma and hepatic cholesterol and hepatic activities of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase and acyl CoA: cholesterol transferase are lower in rats fed citrus peel extract or a mixture of citrus bioflavonoids. *Journal of Nutrition* 129(6), 1182-1185
- Calomme M, Pieters L, Vlietinck A, Vanden Berghe D (1996) Inhibition of bacterial mutagenesis by *Citrus* flavonoids. *Planta Medica* 62(3), 222-226
- Chan T, Galati G, O'Brien PJ (1999) Oxygen activation during peroxidase catalysed metabolism of flavones or flavanones. *Chemico Biological Interactions* 122(1), 15-25
- Chen YT, Zheng RL, Jia ZJ, Ju Y (1990) Flavonoids as superoxide scavengers and antioxidants. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **9(1)**, 19-21
- Chiou GC, Xu XR (2004) Effects of some natural flavonoids on retinal function recovery after ischemic insult in the rat. *Journal of Ocular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* **20(2)**, 107-113
- Choe SC, Kim HS, Jeong TS, Bok SH, Park YB (2001) Naringin has an antiatherogenic effect with the inhibition of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. *Journal Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 38(6), 947-955
- Choi MS, Do KM, Park YS, Jeon SM, Jeong TS, Lee YK Lee MK, Bok SH (2001) Effect of naringin supplementation on cholesterol metabolism and antioxidant status in rats fed high cholesterol with different levels of vitamin E. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 45(5), 193-201
- Choi JS, Han HK (2005) Enhanced oral exposure of diltiazem by the concomitant use of naringin in rats. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 305(1-2), 122-128
- Choi JS, Shin SC (2005) Enhanced paclitaxel bioavailability after oral coadministration of paclitaxel prodrug with naringin to rats. *International Journal* of Pharmaceutics 292(1-2), 149-156
- Cvetnić Z, Vladimir-Knezević S (2004) Antimicrobial activity of grapefruit seed and pulp ethanolic extract. *Acta Pharmaceutica* 54(3), 243-250
- da Silva RR, de Oliveira TT, Nagem TJ, Pinto AS, Albino LF, de Almeida MR, de Moraes GH, Pinto JG (2001) Hypocholesterolemic effect of naringin and rutin flavonoids. Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutricion 51(3), 258-264
- de Castro WV, Mertens-Talcott S, Derendorf H, Butterweck V (2007) Grapefruit juice-drug interactions: Grapefruit juice and its components inhibit P-glycoprotein (ABCB1) mediated transport of talinolol in Caco-2 cells. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* **96(10)**, 2808-2817
- Déchaud H, Ravard C, Claustrat F, de la Perrière AB, Pugeat M (1999) Xenoestrogen interaction with human sex hormone-binding globulin (hSHBG). *Steroids* 64(5), 328-334
- Divi RL, Doerge DR (1996) Inhibition of thyroid peroxidase by dietary flavonoids. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 9(1), 16-23

- Fenton JI, Hord NG (2004) Flavonoids promote cell migration in nontumorigenic colon epithelial cells differing in Apc genotype: implications of matrix metalloproteinase activity. *Nutrition and Cancer* 48(2), 182-188
- Fuhr U, Klittich K, Staib AH (1993) Inhibitory effect of grapefruit juice and its bitter principal, naringenin, on CYP1A2 dependent metabolism of caffeine in man. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 35(4), 431-436
- Fuhr U, Maier-Brüggemann A, Blume H, Mück W, Unger S, Kuhlmann J, Huschka C, Zaigler M, Rietbrock S, Staib AH (1998) Grapefruit juice increases oral nimodipine bioavailability. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology Therapy* 36(3), 126-132
- Gordon PB, Holen I, Seglen PO (1995) Protection by naringin and some other flavonoids of hepatocytic autophagy and endocytosis against inhibition by okadaic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270(11), 5830-5838
- Herrera MD, Marhuenda E (1993) Effect of naringin and naringenin on contractions induced by noradrenaline in rat vas deferens – I. Evidence for postsynaptic alpha-2 adrenergic receptor. *General Pharmacology* 24(3), 739-742
- Ho PC, Saville DJ, Wanwimolruk S (2001) Inhibition of human CYP3A4 activity by grapefruit flavonoids, furanocoumarins and related compounds. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences* 4(3), 217-227
- Hori M, Kojima H, Nakata S, Konishi H, Kitagawa A, Kawai K (2007) A search for the plant ingredients that protect cells from air pollutants and benz[a]pyrene phototoxicity. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology* **30(2)** 105-116
- Hsiu SL, Huang TY, Hou YC, Chin DH, Chao PD (2002) Comparison of metabolic pharmacokinetics of naringin and naringenin in rabbits. *Life Sciences* 70(13) 1481-1489
- Hsu CL and Yen GC (2006) Induction of cell apoptosis in 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes by flavonoids is associated with their antioxidant activity. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research* 50(11), 1072-1079
- Jagetia A, Jagetia GC, Jha S (2007) Naringin, a grapefruit flavanone, protects V79 cells against the bleomycin-induced genotoxicity and decline in survival. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **27(2)**, 122-132
- Jagetia GC, Reddy TK (2002) The grapefruit flavanone naringin protects against the radiation-induced genomic instability in the mice bone marrow: a micronucleus study. *Mutation Research* 519(1-2), 37-48
- Jagetia GC, Reddy TK (2005) Modulation of radiation-induced alteration in the antioxidant status of mice by naringin. *Life Sciences* **77(7)**, v780-94
- Jagetia GC, Reddy TK, Venkatesha VA, Kedlaya R (2004) Influence of naringin on ferric iron induced oxidative damage *in vitro*. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 347(1-2), 189-197
- Jagetia GC, Venkatesha VA, Reddy TK (2003) Naringin, a citrus flavonone, protects against radiation-induced chromosome damage in mouse bone marrow. *Mutagenesis* 18(4), 337-343
- Jeon SM, Bok SH, Jang MK, Kim YH, Nam KT, Jeong TS, Park YB, Choi MS (2002) Comparison of antioxidant effects of naringin and probucol in cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 317(1-2), 181-190
- Jeon SM, Bok SH, Jang MK, Lee MK, Nam KT, Park YB, Rhee SJ, Choi MS (2001) Antioxidative activity of naringin and lovastatin in high cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Life Sciences* 69(24), 2855-2866
- Jeon SM, Park YB, Choi MS (2004) Antihypercholesterolemic property of naringin alters plasma and tissue lipids, cholesterol-regulating enzymes, fecal sterol and tissue morphology in rabbits. *Clinical Nutrition* 23(5), 1025-1034
- Jung UJ, Kim HJ, Lee JS, Lee MK, Kim HO, Park EJ, Kim HK, Jeong TS, Choi MS (2003) Naringin supplementation lowers plasma lipids and enhances erythrocyte antioxidant enzyme activities in hypercholesterolemic subjects. *Clinical Nutrition* 22(6), 561-568
- Jung UJ, Lee MK, Park YB, Kang MA, Choi MS (2006) Effect of citrus flavonoids on lipid metabolism and glucose-regulating enzyme mRNA levels in type-2 diabetic mice. The *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 38(7), 1134-1145
- Jung UJ, Lee MK, Jeong KS, Choi MS (2004) The hypoglycemic effects of hesperidin and naringin are partly mediated by hepatic glucose-regulating enzymes in C57BL/KsJ-db/db mice. *Journal of Nutrition* 134(10), 2499-2503
- Kanaze FI, Bounartzi MI, Georgarakis M, Niopas I (2007) Pharmacokinetics of the citrus flavanone aglycones hesperetin and naringenin after single oral administration in human subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 61(4), 472-477
- Kanno S, Shouji A, Asou K, Ishikawa M (2003) Effects of naringin on hydrogen peroxide-induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis in P388 cells. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences* 92(2), 166-170
- Kanno S, Shouji A, Hirata R, Asou K, Ishikawa M (2004) Effects of naringin on cytosine arabinoside (Ara-C)-induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis in P388 cells. *Life Sciences* 75(3), 353-365
- Kanno S, Shouji A, Tomizawa A, Hiura T, Osanai Y, Ujibe M, Obara Y, Nakahata N, Ishikawa M (2006) Inhibitory effect of naringin on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced endotoxin shock in mice and nitric oxide production in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Life Sciences* 78(7), 673-681
- Kanno S, Tomizawa A, Hiura T, Osanai Y, Shouji A, Ujibe M, Ohtake T, Kimura K, Ishikawa M (2005) Inhibitory effects of naringenin on tumor growth in human cancer cell lines and sarcoma S-180-implanted mice. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 28(3), 527-530
- Kawaguchi K, Kikuchi S, Hasegawa H, Maruyama H, Morita H, Kumazawa Y (1999) Suppression of lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis

factor-release and liver injury in mice by naringin. European Journal of Pharmacology 368(2-3), 245-250

- Kawaguchi K, Kikuchi S, Hasunuma R, Maruyama H, Ryll R, Kumazawa Y (2004) Suppression of infection-induced endotoxin shock in mice by a citrus flavanone naringin. *Planta Medica* 70(1), 17-22
- Kim HJ, Choi JS (2005) Effects of naringin on the pharmacokinetics of verapamil and one of its metabolites, norverapamil, in rabbits. *Biopharmaceutics* and Drug Disposition 26(7), 295-300
- Kim SY, Kim HJ, Lee MK, Jeon SM, Do GM, Kwon EY, Cho YY, Kim DJ, Jeong KS, Park YB, Ha TY, Choi MS (2006) Naringin time-dependently lowers hepatic cholesterol biosynthesis and plasma cholesterol in rats fed high-fat and high-cholesterol diet. *Journal of Medicinal Food* 9(4), 582-586
- Kim HJ, Oh GT, Park YB, Lee MK, Seo HJ, Choi MS (2004) Naringin alters the cholesterol biosynthesis and antioxidant enzyme activities in LDL receptor-knockout mice under cholesterol fed condition. *Life Sciences* 74(13), 1621-1634
- Kroyer G (1986) The antioxidant activity of citrus fruit peels. Zeitschrift fur Ernahrungswiss 25(1), 63-69
- Kumar MS, Unnikrishnan MK, Patra S, Murthy K, Srinivasan KK (2003) Naringin and naringenin inhibit nitrite-induced methemoglobin formation. *Pharmazie* **58(8)**, 564-566
- Lambev I, Belcheva A, Zhelyazkov D (1980a) Flavonoids with antioxidant action (naringin and rutin) and the release of mastocytic and nonmastocytic histamine. Acta Physiological et Pharmacologica Bulgarica 6(2), 70-75
- Lambev I, Krushkov I, Zheliazkov D, Nikolov N (1980b) Antiexudative effect of naringin in experimental pulmonary edema and peritonitis. *Eksp Med Morfol* **19(4)**, 207-212
- Le Marchand L, Murphy SP, Hankin JH, Wilkens LR, Kolonel LN (2000) Intake of flavonoids and lung cancer. *Journal of National Cancer Institute* **92(2)**, 154-160
- Lee CH, Jeong TS, Choi YK, Hyun BH, Oh GT, Kim EH, Kim JR, Han JI, Bok SH (2001) Anti-atherogenic effect of citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin, associated with hepatic ACAT and aortic VCAM-1 and MCP-1 in high cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 284(3), 681-688
- Li P, Callery PS, Gan LS, Balani SK (2007) Esterase inhibition by grapefruit juice flavonoids leading to a new drug interaction. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* **35(7)**, 1203-1208
- Li JM, Che CT, Lau CB, Leung PS, Cheng CH (2006) Inhibition of intestinal and renal Na+-glucose cotransporter by naringenin. *The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* **38(5-6)**, 985-995
- Li F, Meng F, Xiong Z, Li Y, Liu R, Liu H (2006) Stimulative activity of Drynaria fortunei (Kunze) J. Sm. extracts and two of its flavonoids on the proliferation of osteoblastic like cells. *Pharmazie* 61(11), 962-965
- Lim SC, Choi JS (2006) Effects of naringin on the pharmacokinetics of intravenous paclitaxel in rats. *Biopharmaceutics and Drug Disposition* 27(9), 443-447
- Martín MJ, Marhuenda E, Pérez-Guerrero C, Franco JM (1994) Antiulcer effect of naringin on gastric lesions induced by ethanol in rats. *Pharmacology* 49(3) 144-150
- Mata-Bilbao Mde L, Andrés-Lacueva C, Roura E, Jáuregui O, Escribano E, Torre C, Lamuela-Raventós RM (2007) Absorption and pharmacokinetics of grapefruit flavanones in beagles. *British Journal of Nutrition* 98(1), 86-92
- Middleton E Jr, Drzewiecki G (1984) Flavonoid inhibition of human basophil histamine release stimulated by various agents. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 33(21), 3333-3338
- Miller EG, Peacock JJ, Bourland TC, Taylor SE, Wright JM, Patil BS, Miller EG (2008) Inhibition of oral carcinogenesis by citrus flavonoids. *Nutrition and Cancer* 60(1), 69-74
- Mitsunaga Y, Takanaga H, Matsuo H, Naito M, Tsuruo T, Ohtani H, Sawada Y (2000) Effect of bioflavonoids on vincristine transport across blood-brain barrier. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **395(3)**, 193-201
- Naderi GA, Asgary S, Sarraf-Zadegan N, Shirvany H (2003) Anti-oxidant effect of flavonoids on the susceptibility of LDL oxidation. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 246(1-2), 193-196
- Ng TB, Ling JM, Wang ZT, Cai JN, Xu GJ (1996) Examination of coumarins, flavonoids and polysaccharopeptide for antibacterial activity. *General Phar*macology 27(7), 1237-1240
- Ng TB, Liu F, Wang ZT (2000) Antioxidative activity of natural products from plants. *Life Sciences* 66(8), 709-723
- Orallo F, Camiña M, Alvarez E, Basaran H, Lugnier C (2005) Implication of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase inhibition in the vasorelaxant activity of the citrus-fruits flavonoid (+/-)-naringenin. *Planta Medica* **71(2)**, 99-107
- Paredes A, Alzuru M, Mendez J, Rodríguez-Ortega M (2003) Anti-Sindbis activity of flavanones hesperetin and naringenin. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 26(1), 108-109
- Park SH, Park EK, Kim DH (2005) Passive cutaneous anaphylaxis-inhibitory activity of flavanones from *Citrus unshiu* and *Poncirus trifoliata*. *Planta Medica* 71(1), 24-27
- Parmar NS (1983) The gastric anti-ulcer activity of naringenin, a specific histidine decarboxylase inhibitor. *International Journal of Tissue Reaction* 5(4), 415-420

Pereira RM, Andrades NE, Paulino N, Sawaya AC, Eberlin MN, Marcucci

MC, Favero GM, Novak EM, Bydlowski SP (2007) Synthesis and characterization of a metal complex containing naringin and Cu, and its antioxidant, antimicrobial, antiinflammatory and tumor cell cytotoxicity. *Molecules* **12(7)**, 1352-1366

- Punithavathi VR, Anuthama R, Prince MPS (2008) Combined treatment with naringin and vitamin C ameliorates streptozotocin-induced diabetes in male Wister rats. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 28(6), 806-813
- Rajadurai M, Prince MPS (2006) Preventive effect of naringin on lipids, lipoproteins and lipid metabolic enzymes in isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in Wistar rats. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology* 20(4), 191-197
- Rajadurai M, Prince MPS (2006) Preventive effect of naringin on lipid peroxides and antioxidants in isoproterenol-induced cardiotoxicity in Wistar rats: biochemical and histopathological evidences. *Toxicology* 228(2-3), 259-268
- Rajadurai M, Prince MPS (2007) Preventive effect of naringin on cardiac markers, electrocardiographic patterns and lysosomal hydrolases in normal and isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in Wistar rats. *Toxicology* 230(2-3), 178-188
- Rajadurai M, Prince MPS (2007) Preventive effect of naringin on isoproterenol-induced cardiotoxicity in Wistar rats: an *in vivo* and *in vitro* study. *Toxicology* 232(3), 216-225
- Rajadurai M, Prince PS (2007) Preventive effect of naringin on cardiac mitochondrial enzymes during isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in rats: a transmission electron microscopic study. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology* 21(6), 354-361
- Rajadurai M, Prince PS (2009) Naringin ameliorates mitochondrial lipid peroxides, antioxidants and lipids in isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in Wister rats. *Phytotherapy Research* 23, 358-362
- Ratty AK, Das NP (1988) Effects of flavonoids on nonenzymatic lipid peroxidation: structure-activity relationship. *Biochemical Medicine and Metabolic Biology* 39(1), 69-79
- Reshef N, Hayari Y, Goren C, Boaz M, Madar Z, Knobler H (2005) Antihypertensive effect of sweetie fruit in patients with stage I hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension* **18(10)**, 1360-1363
- Robbins RC, Martin FG, Roe JM (1988) Ingestion of grapefruit lowers elevated hematocrits in human subjects. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 58(4), 414-417
- Runkel M, Bourian M, Tegtmeier M, Legrum W (1997) The character of inhibition of the metabolism of 1,2-benzopyrone (coumarin) by grapefruit juice in human. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 53(3-4), 265-269
- Russo A, Acquaviva R, Campisi A, Sorrenti V, Di Giacomo C, Virgata G, Barcellona ML, Vanella A (2000) Bioflavonoids as antiradicals, antioxidants and DNA cleavage protectors. *Cell Biology and Toxicology* 16(2), 91-98
- Saponara S, Testai L, Iozzi D, Martinotti E, Martelli A, Chericoni S, Sgaragli G, Fusi F, Calderone V (2006) (+/-)-Naringenin as large conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K+ (BKCa) channel opener in vascular smooth muscle cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 149(8), 1013-1021
- Schindler R, Mentlein R (2006) Flavonoids and vitamin E reduce the release of the angiogenic peptide vascular endothelial growth factor from human tumor cells. *Journal of Nutrition* **136(6)**, 1477-1482
- Seo HJ, Jeong KS, Lee MK, Park YB, Jung UJ, Kim HJ, Choi MS (2003) Role of naringin supplement in regulation of lipid and ethanol metabolism in rats. *Life Sciences* **73(7)**, 933-946
- Shim CK, Cheon EP, Kang KW, Seo KS, Han HK (2007) Inhibition effect of flavonoids on monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) in Caco-2 cells. *Jour*nal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 59(11), 1515-1519
- Shin YW, Bok SH, Jeong TS, Bae KH, Jeoung NH, Choi MS, Lee SH, Park YB (1999) Hypocholesterolemic effect of naringin associated with hepatic cholesterol regulating enzyme changes in rats. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 69(5), 341-347
- Shiratori K, Ohgami K, Ilieva I, Jin XH, Yoshida K, Kase S, Ohno S (2005) The effects of naringin and naringenin on endotoxin-induced uveitis in rats. *Journal of Ocular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 21(4), 298-304
- Singh D, Chander V, Chopra K (2004a) Protective effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid on ferric nitrilotriacetate-induced oxidative renal damage in rat kidney. *Toxicology* 201(1-3), 1-8
- Singh, D, Chander V, Chopra K (2004b) Protective effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid on glycerol-induced acute renal failure in rat kidney. *Toxicology* 201(1-3), 143-151
- Singh D, Chopra K. (2004) The effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid on ischemiareperfusion induced renal injury in rats. *Pharmacological Research* 50(2), 187-193
- So FV, Guthrie N, Chambers AF, Moussa M, Carroll KK (1996) Inhibition of human breast cancer cell proliferation and delay of mammary tumorigenesis by flavonoids and citrus juices. *Nutrition and Cancer* 26(2), 167-181
- Tsui VW, Wong RW, Rabie AB (2008) The inhibitory effects of naringin on the growth of periodontal pathogens in vitro. Phytotherapy Research 22, 401-406
- Ubeaud G, Hagenbach J, Vandenschrieck S, Jung L, Koffel JC (1999) *In vitro* inhibition of simvastatin metabolism in rat and human liver by naringenin. *Life Sciences* **65(13)**, 1403-1412

- Ueng YF, Chang YL, Oda Y, Park SS, Liao JF, Lin MF, Chen CF (1999) In vitro and in vivo effects of naringin on cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenase in mouse liver. Life Sciences 65(24), 2591-2602
- Ugocsai K, Varga A, Molnár P, Antus S, Molnár J (2005) Effects of selected flavonoids and carotenoids on drug accumulation and apoptosis induction in multidrug-resistant colon cancer cells expressing MDR1/LRP. *In Vivo* 19(2), 433-438
- Wei M, Yang Z, Li P, Zhang Y, Sse WC (2007) Anti-osteoporosis activity of naringin in the retinoic acid-induced osteoporosis model. *American Journal* of Chinese Medicine 35(4), 663-667
- Wenzel U, Kuntz S, Daniel H (2001) Flavonoids with epidermal growth factor-receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitory activity stimulate PEPT1-mediated cefixime uptake into human intestinal epithelial cells. *The Journal of Phar*macology Experimental Therapeutics 299(1), 351-357
- Wong RW, Rabie AB (2006a) Effect of naringin collagen graft on bone formation. Biomaterials 27(9), 1824-1831
- Wong RW, Rabie AB (2006b) Effect of naringin on bone cells. Journal of Orthopedics Research 24(11), 2045-2050
- Wood N (2004) The effects of dietary bioflavonoid (rutin, quercetin, and naringin) supplementation on physiological changes in molar crestal alveolar bone-cemento-enamel junction distance in young rats. *Journal of Medcinal Food* **7(2)**, 192-196

Wood N (2007) The effects of selected dietary bioflavonoid supplementation on

dental caries in young rats fed a high-sucrose diet. *Journal of Medicinal Food* **10(4)**, 694-701

- Wu JB, Fong YC, Tsai HY, Chen YF, Tsuzuki M, Tang CH (2008) Naringininduced bone morphogenetic protein-2 expression via PI3K, Akt, c-Fos/Jun andAP-1 pathway in osteoblasts. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 588(2-3), 333-342
- Vanamala J, Leonardi T, Patil BS, Taddeo SS, Murphy ME, Pike LM, Chapkin RS, Lupton JR, Turner ND (2006) Suppression of colon carcinogenesis by bioactive compounds in grapefruit. *Carcinogenesis* 27(6), 1257-1265
- Yeh SL, Wang WY, Huang CH, Hu ML (2005) Pro-oxidative effect of betacarotene and the interaction with flavonoids on UVA-induced DNA strand breaks in mouse fibroblast C3H10T1/2 cells. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 16(12), 729-735
- Yeum CH, Choi JS (2006) Effect of naringin pretreatment on bioavailability of verapamil in rabbits. Archives of Pharmacal Research 29(1), 102-107
- Younes M, Siegers CP (1981) Inhibitory action of some flavonoids on enhanced spontaneous lipid peroxidation following glutathione depletion. *Planta* **43(11)**, 240-244
- Yu J, Wang L, Walzem RL, Miller EG, Pike LM, Patil BS (2005) Antioxidant activity of citrus limonoids, flavonoids, and coumarins. *Journal of Agricultral and Food Chemistry* 53(6), 2009-2014